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LAS VEGAS, NEVADA; THURSDAY, JANUARY 10, 2019;

9:50 A.M.

*****

P R O C E E D I N G S

***** 

MR. FREER:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Alan 

Freer, Alex LeVeque, and Dan Polsenberg on behalf of 

Milton -- or the estate of Milton I. Schwartz and 

Jonathan Schwartz. 

MR. JONES:  Randall Jones and Josh Carlson 

on behalf of the school.

THE COURT:  Okay.  We have three different 

issues going on, and I think we have to take them in 

a specific order.  The first one is the equitable 

issues, the second one is the motion to retax, and 

the third one the motion for relief (indiscernible).  

So starting with equitable issues, and I 

think we have to take them separately because they 

are such discreet issues.  So equity.  

MR. FREER:  All right.  So with respect 

with the equity, Your Honor, I did have an issue 

just to avoid ping ponging back and forth.  The 

school's the petitioner with respect to compelling 

the distribution of the bequest.  We're obviously a 

counter-claimant, and so I'm just trying to figure 
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out in terms of rebuttal and reply, who's 

movement -- who's the movement, who gets the last 

word, and I'll look to you for some direction on 

that. 

THE COURT:  Right.  Because the -- the 

estate filed the briefs on the equitable claims -- 

because as we kept saying through this whole thing, 

the jury has to make these findings of fact, but 

that's not the end of this -- of the analysis.  And 

so now that we have the jury's findings of fact, now 

we go to what does that mean?  

MR. FREER:  What do we do?  

THE COURT:  Yes.  So the jury made very 

specific findings of fact, which was the -- which we 

now have to use to interpret this will. 

MR. FREER:  So I guess with that all, I'll 

just jump in and proceed on behalf of the estate. 

THE COURT:  Right.  So the issue with 

respect to -- there's those two things -- two 

different parts of what you're asking for.  The 

first is what happens to the $500,000?  

MR. FREER:  Correct.  

THE COURT:  Their assumption seems to be 

they get it.  Your assumption seems to be, you 

know -- 
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MR. FREER:  It's lapsed or rescinded.  

THE COURT:  -- it's lapsed.  The second one 

is this other equitable argument.  The other 

equitable claim, which was to refund the gifts.  Was 

that -- 

MR. FREER:  Lifetime gifts, yes.  So -- 

THE COURT:  I'm going to assume that was 

always in here. 

MR. FREER:  Yes.  It was -- 

THE COURT:  I only remembered the thing 

about the will. 

MR. FREER:  It was claim six on the -- 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Right.  

MR. FREER:  So -- 

THE COURT:  I trust you guys.  That the 

issue of -- that this was a mistaken belief that all 

these gifts were made on the same mistaken belief. 

MR. FREER:  Yes. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MR. FREER:  All right.  With respect to the 

bequest, Your Honor, ample law and evidence, the 

jury verdict, the findings therein support the 

denial of the school's petition to compel 

distribution.  Your Honor already stated that that 

main reason was to determine what Milton's intent 
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was and whether he intended that bequest to be made 

only to an entity bearing the name Milton I. 

Schwartz Hebrew Academy.  

The jury came back with responses to 

questions eight and questions nine.  Basically 

question eight was that the -- made a determination 

that Milton intended the bequest only to be made to 

a school known as the Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew 

Academy and not the Adelson Educational Institute.  

And with respect to question number nine, the 

school -- or the jury found that the reasoning for 

that bequest was based on the belief that he had a 

naming rights agreement.  

The jury findings on both of these are 

supported by the overwhelming and uncontroverted 

evidence with respect to Milton's belief that he had 

such an agreement.  Start with Milton's words 

directly in Trial Exhibit 134 where he states, 

"Affiant donated $500,000 to Hebrew Academy with the 

understanding that the school would be renamed 

Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy in perpetuity."  

You also have Milton's statements in Trial Exhibit 

116A where he said, "I raised a million dollars, the 

half a million I gave, and they agreed to name the 

school Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy in 
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perpetuity."  

Everybody involved in the transaction 

testified that Milton understood that this was to be 

Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy in perpetuity.  We 

have testimony from the board members we cited, 

including Lenny Schwartz and Roberta Sabbath, even 

Tamar Lubin admits that there was an agreement 

between to school and Milton.  This belief that 

Milton had was reinforced by the various 

documents -- 

THE COURT:  I -- we don't need to hear all 

of this -- 

MR. FREER:  That was introduced at trial.  

So now we get to the issue of with respect to the 

findings that the jury made, and the outset is that 

we requested two remedies with respect to them.  The 

first remedy being that -- well, the overall issue 

and import when the Court does this remedy is what 

did Milton intend.  We know that now from the jury's 

findings, and the two remedies that we requested is 

construction and lapse or mistake and rescission 

with respect to this bequest.  

And as to the construction remedy, we've 

cited numerous cases over the years in all these 

trial briefs, pretrial and post-trial briefs, that 
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the Court has the ability to construe a bequest and 

declare a lapse where the testator's intent has been 

frustrated, and under the consensus of common law, 

we've shown those.  And we've shown examples of 

where the bequest has lapsed with examples such as, 

not only dying, but corporation ceasing to exist or 

the donor's intent been thwarted by an act of total 

abandonment.  So as a general matter with respect to 

this, where the event or conditions occurred or not 

occurred, that thwarts the intent, and as the jury 

found, the intent is the school be named Milton I. 

Schwartz Hebrew Academy in perpetuity, the jury 

finding would support the remedy for this Court to 

construe paragraph 3.2 and declare the bequest as 

lapsed.  

With respect to -- additionally as a 

counter or an alternative is our third claim for 

relief is that the Court can declare that the 

bequest is void or rescinded due to mistake.  And 

we've been citing for years now the Monzo case that 

Your Honor heard for the proposition that with 

respect to unilateral gift or with a donative gift, 

a unilateral mistake can be rescinded.  Again, there 

is ample evidence that Your Honor is well aware of 

after sitting through the trial that jury -- and 
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jury findings number nine would support the remedy 

that the bequest is void or rescinded by reason of 

unilateral mistake because Milton believed that the 

Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy would be named 

after him in perpetuity, and they had an agreement 

as such.  The fact that he didn't have an 

enforceable agreement based on the jury's finding 

constitutes the ground for the unilateral mistake.  

Now with respect to the lifetime gifts -- 

THE COURT:  I don't want to go -- I don't 

want to go on yet.  Okay.  So -- 

MR. FREER:  All right.  

THE COURT:  -- we have the take the factual 

findings as the jury made them and interpret the 

language of the will.  So let's talk about the 

language of the will.  So paragraph 2.3, "The Milton 

I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy I hearby give, device, 

and bequeath the sum of $500,000 to the Milton I. 

Schwartz Hebrew Academy (The Hebrew Academy)."  

And the conclusion of that paragraph -- and 

it talks about how this was supposed to first go to 

reduce the mortgage.  "In the event the lender will 

not release my estate" -- blah blah blah -- "the 

gift shall be given -- no gift shall be given to the 

Hebrew Academy.  In the event that no mortgage 
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exists" -- and this is the -- the situation because 

at the time of his death, I believe there was no 

mortgage. 

MR. JONES:  That is correct, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  It had been paid off by the 

Adelsons.  "In the event that no mortgage exist at 

the time of my death" -- which is the situation we 

have here -- "the entire $500,000 amount shall go to 

the Hebrew Academy for the purpose of funding 

scholarships to educate Jewish children only."  

So the findings as the jury made them -- we 

know as a matter of fact there was no mortgage at 

the time of his death, so we have to look at that 

last clause, which is that "in the event that no 

mortgage exists at the time of my death, the entire 

$500,000 amount shall go to the Hebrew Academy for 

the purpose of funding scholarships to educate 

Jewish children only."  If you read that paragraph 

in connection with jury answers eight and nine that 

Milton intended the bequest he made only to a school 

known as the Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy for 

purposes set forth in the bequest, that's what they 

chose, that he intended it only to go to a school 

known as a Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy.  And 

question nine -- and their point being well, there 
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was at the time of his death, his name was on the 

lower school building, but if you read question 

nine, "Do you find that the reason Milton Schwartz 

made the bequest was based on his belief that he had 

a naming rights agreement with the school which was 

in perpetuity?  Yes."  And that is significant 

because their first answer is he didn't have a 

naming rights agreement.  

MR. FREER:  Right.  But he believed he did. 

THE COURT:  He was in error about that.  

He -- that's why he did it.  He believed he had a 

naming rights agreement, and so that is why he did 

what he did.  

MR. FREER:  Correct.  

THE COURT:  And so the net of that as a 

matter of law is that where your testator makes a 

gift that is based on a false understanding, a false 

impression, or a false belief of -- then it would be 

void because he never intended this to go to 

anything other than a school named after him in 

perpetuity.  

MR. FREER:  Correct.  That is -- that is 

the basis and our recommendation that this Court 

find based on those findings. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  So now we can go on to 
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the inter vivos gifts because I don't understand how 

those two things interrelate. 

MR. FREER:  So the inter vivos gifts 

constitute a separate claim. 

THE COURT:  I know but I'm -- I'm trying 

to -- I just don't understand how the jury findings 

relate to the inter vivos gifts because they weren't 

asked about anything about what he did during his 

life. 

MR. FREER:  They weren't, but we're still 

left with that claim because it was an equitable 

claim for Your Honor to determine, so we brought -- 

THE COURT:  Right. 

MR. FREER:  -- this -- this is a post -- 

this is basically a request for this Court to 

determine the equitable claims in front.  So Your 

Honor is the one that makes the findings and the 

conclusions based on those inter vivos gifts.  

So with respect to those inter vivos gifts, 

we outline -- hang on one second.  Let me turn to my 

outline here.  We raised those -- the claim for the 

rescission of those inter vivos gifts in our sixth 

claim for relief and in the underlying petition, and 

the basis for that is the same issue of unilateral 

mistake.  Because at the time Milton made the 
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$500,000 donation, at the time he made those 

donations during his life, he made those donations 

under the belief, mistaken now that the jury has 

come in with its finding, that he had a naming 

rights agreement.  And as all the evidence pointed 

out at trial, he made that with the understanding 

that that would be made -- that the school would be 

named after him in perpetuity, and for those 

situations where for those years where there was not 

any kind of naming right, he didn't make any gifts, 

and that was presented in the testimony of Susan 

Pacheco, and it was also in Trial Exhibit 62 and 

Exhibit Number 9.  So our request as part of this is 

to refund those bequests or those lifetime gifts 

that he made because those also operate under the 

mistaken -- the unilateral mistake that he did when 

he had the donative -- when he made those donative 

transfers. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  So that's the time 

period -- if you look at your chart, 1989 he made 

the $500,000 gift, 1990 he made $9,000, nominal 

amounts $150.69 in '91, '92, then he has the break 

with the board. 

MR. FREER:  Right. 

THE COURT:  '93, '94, '95, '96. 
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MR. FREER:  '96 we get in with the Roberta 

Sabbath letter inviting him back. 

THE COURT:  So '96 is the Sabbath letter, 

and he comes back and the next year he gives 2,100. 

MR. FREER:  Correct. 

THE COURT:  2,500, 2,600 -- I'm -- beg your 

pardon -- then 22,000, 26,000 and various other 

dollar figures -- 

MR. FREER:  Until it starts ramping up 

significantly in 2003, '04, '06, and '07. 

THE COURT:  That's right.  Okay.  

MR. FREER:  And so our request under the 

same Monzo case is that it's a unilateral mistake.  

But for his mistaken belief that he had a naming 

rights agreement, he wouldn't have made those 

donative gifts, and it's an especially true with 

respect to the $500,000.  I mean, you heard for 

several days at trial everybody that was involved in 

that transaction, he thought and he made that 

money -- he made that gift on condition that it be 

named after him.  Roberta Sabbath testified that was 

extremely important to him, the fact that the school 

be named after him in perpetuity and formed a basis 

for the transaction.  So if that understanding and 

that mistaken belief, that he had enforceable naming 
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rights agreement, permeated every single donation he 

made throughout the entire thing, there isn't any 

evidence that was presented that he never varied 

from that donative intent. 

THE COURT:  But, I mean, so he makes the 

initial gift.  He thinks he's got this naming rights 

agreement.  He has the falling out.  He's already 

made those gifts, the three -- 1994, '95 gifts.  

He's already made those gifts.  Then he has this 

break and comes back and gets the letter from 

Roberta Sabbath.  So relying on Roberta Sabbath's 

letter, he -- 

MR. FREER:  He becomes re-involved and 

starts making gifts again. 

THE COURT:  Starts making new gifts.  So 

I'm just trying to understand how we can go all the 

way back to his initial $500,000 and say that was a 

mistake.  I mean, he made that gift and -- 

MR. FREER:  Because it was conditioned on 

the belief that was school would be named after him 

in perpetuity.  That's the -- that's the unilateral 

mistake. 

THE COURT:  But -- 

MR. FREER:  He didn't -- 

THE COURT:  -- he never pursued getting it 
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back.  I mean that was 1989, and he leaves the 

school, and he doesn't say anything to anybody about 

I'm leaving, and I want my money back because you're 

not going to keep this place named after me in 

perpetuity. 

MR. FREER:  There is testimony from Susan 

Pacheco that they were going to go to war, but 

before any of the statute of limitations ran, the 

school came back, offered him to rename the -- to 

basically reconcile, put the name back on the school 

and resume the relationship. 

THE COURT:  Right.  So -- but that was 

20 -- almost -- that was 30 years ago. 

MR. FREER:  Right. 

THE COURT:  How can we go back 30 years 

ago?  

MR. FREER:  It's the law of donative 

transfers, Your Honor.  There's cases out there 

where you've got people making donations years in 

advance and name changes, and the courts basically 

say rescission is the appropriate remedy for those 

cases. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MR. FREER:  The fact that it occurred in 

1989 doesn't matter because we didn't have until 
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2018 a determination that there was no naming rights 

agreement, and so for him to operate all those years 

with the understanding that he had an enforceable 

naming rights agreement, only to determine after his 

death that that was a mistake, a mistaken belief, 

that's what constitutes it.  And we're talking about 

something in equity here.  So -- 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Well, but where is there 

anything that tells us -- the will tells us, I 

device and bequeath to Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew 

Academy this amount.  Okay.  Fine.  Where is there 

anything in writing that tells us I only made this 

gift of $500,000, $100,000, $69.99 because I believe 

that this school is named after me in perpetuity?  I 

mean, I'm just not understanding of -- 

MR. FREER:  Where -- 

THE COURT:  I'm not understanding how his 

pattern of gifting is -- 

MR. FREER:  Okay.  So where we have in 

writing is his affidavit. 

THE COURT:  Uh-huh. 

MR. FREER:  Where he says, "Affiant donated 

$500,000 to the Hebrew Academy with the 

understanding that the school would be named Milton 

I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy in perpetuity," and 
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that's in Trial Exhibit 134.  And then also the 

video clip, which is Trial Exhibit 116A, "I raised a 

half million dollars.  The half million I gave, and 

half a million -- and I -- the half a million, and I 

gave half a million, and they agreed to name the 

school MISHA in perpetuity."  He was operating under 

that belief at the time he handed them the $500,000.  

That's also what Roberta Sabbath testified to, that 

there was a gentleman's agreement that the school be 

named after him in perpetuity, and that in 

perpetuity language for the naming of the school was 

very important to him.  

I think that evidence constitutes clear and 

convincing evidence that but for the mistake, he 

would not have made that donation.  

THE COURT:  Any of them?  Any of them?  The 

$1,110,606.66 that he made over a period of twenty 

years?  

MR. FREER:  Yes.  Because what we have is 

we have data points.  We don't have -- you know, and 

this feeds into the straw man argument that the 

Adelson school raises is their position is in order 

to satisfy the clear and convincing evidence burden, 

you would need basically akin to a sworn affidavit 

every time you made a donation that he was doing 
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this only because of the mistaken -- of his belief 

that he -- it was named after him in perpetuity.  

Obviously, that's an improbable standard.  But if 

you do look at some of the cases cited by Monzo in 

the supreme court, there are two cases where those 

cases cited with approval the Court talks about or 

those courts talk about instances where a clear and 

convincing evidence standard was met.  

And the first one where that standard is 

met -- hang on one second.  The first case cited by 

Monzo is that Gereraux versus Dobyns case and there 

the Court found clear and convincing evidence based 

on evidence that the purpose and the understanding 

of setting up that trust was not met, which was 

tax -- was for tax effect -- 

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MR. FREER:  -- and it was based on evidence 

of testimony of the donor, that after-the-fact, that 

was her understanding, that's why she set it up, and 

so based on that testimony only, the Court ended up 

saying that was clear and convincing evidence.  

The second case was Twyford versus 

Huffaker, and there the Court said clear and 

convincing evidence of mistake also was by the way 

of the grantor's testimony, and so here what we've 
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got is -- 

THE COURT:  Our grantor is dead. 

MR. FREER:  Exactly.  But the difference is 

we've got an affidavit after-the-fact saying, "That 

was my understanding when I did it."  We have a 

video of him a year before he died saying, "That was 

my understanding when I did it."  

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MR. FREER:  You also have data points along 

the way that we showed during trial.  The fact that 

he made the bequest in his will showed that he was 

operating under the same mistaken belief.  So in the 

same year that he's making the bequest in the will 

in 2004, he's also donating $135,000.  We also 

showed that same intent when he did the codicils to 

that in 2006.  He donated a hundred thousand dollars 

with respect to that.  So that's where our data -- 

that's where the evidence comes in.  We feel that 

that's clear and convincing evidence with respect to 

those.  

MR. JONES:  I guess you've heard this both 

in jury trial, you've heard argument before trial.  

I'm going to start at the most basic level, 

procedural law.  And I think you pointed this out.  

They did not raise these issues in Rule 50 motion, 
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and they can't raise them under Rule 52(c).  They 

did not raise these issues at trial.  They did not 

raise these issues at trial.  They cannot -- in the 

supreme court -- you want to talk about being 

clear -- the supreme court has told us without 

equivocation that if you don't raise an issue at -- 

a Rule 50 motion or an issue during trial, you 

cannot then try to get a do-over after-the-fact.  So 

that's the procedural status that we're in right 

now.  

The next issue, clear and convincing 

evidence.  The burden is on them.  Period.  End of 

story.  You could talk about data points.  You can 

talk about well, we think this is what it means, but 

there is no evidence -- bless you.  Well, I'll split 

it into two, Your Honor.  I don't know if you -- if 

this makes sense to you, but you raised the issues, 

so I want to address it.  There's the -- the 

pre-1993 time period, and then there's the post-1993 

time period.  

In the post -- I'm going to talk about the 

post-1993 time period first.  So -- bless you.  

After-the-fact -- after he get booted out of the 

place, his name comes off the corporation, his name 

comes -- is never on the building because we know 
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that Dr. Lubin's name was on the building.  That 

original building.  So -- so he knew at that point 

his name is not there.  And so from that point 

forward he gets a letter, and the letter in 1996 -- 

I believe you're right, it was -- it says, hey, 

we're going to do this stuff.  It doesn't say 

anything about in perpetuity.  

We know he's a meticulous guy from his son 

and his -- his former secretary.  He documents 

everything.  He's a smart -- he's smarter than his 

own lawyers.  And he goes forward, he makes these 

gifts.  As you point out, some of them are as small 

as $50, and they have the burden of proving each and 

every single one of those gifts not by some presumed 

data point you can infer something.  

They have a high -- the second highest 

burden of proof that we have in our system.  Clear 

and convincing evidence.  They have utterly failed 

to abide by that burden assuming they can get over 

the hurdle of the procedural flaw in their position.  

Utterly fail.  They have never shown this Court 

that -- Mr. Schwartz never did it in a video, he 

never did it -- his -- in fact, I'd point out 

Ms. Pacheco acknowledged that initially she said in 

her deposition she destroyed all the back up 
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information, so we have on top of it a spoliation 

issue.  As you know during the trial, they tried to 

bring it in and say, well, here it is, and you're 

refusing to look at it.  Well, of course, I was 

refusing to look at it because I had a right to 

because it prejudice me to not have been able to 

investigate that information.  

So they have utterly failed at every step 

of the way as a matter of law and as a matter of 

fact of testimony and evidence to prove that there 

was a specific testator intent that every single 

bequest, each one, needs its own support by clear 

and convincing evidence that it was intended.  In 

other words, the only reason he gave $50, Your 

Honor, is because he thought his name was there in 

perpetuity.  No.  So for procedural reasons they 

lose; for factual reasons they lose; for the burden 

of proof they lose.  

Now I want to talk about pre-1993 time 

period.  We have the testimony from Mr. Schwartz in 

the video where he said, I gave that $500,000.  

That's the only amount that he says that he gave for 

naming rights.  And we also know it's incredibly 

ambiguous as to whether that was in perpetuity or 

not because different documents that the supposed 
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man who was meticulous about his documentation as it 

relates to in perpetuity -- whether it was in 

perpetuity or not, but let's assume for argument's 

sake, which I believe is improper for a clear and 

convincing evidence standard to do, and let's just 

ignore the burden of proof for a moment and go to 

the point you made.  

Here's a man who is a litigious person by 

his own testimony and by his son's testimony is a 

litigious person.  And as you point out, and I'm 

glad you did because I was going to bring it up, in 

1993 he's booted out of the place.  He's given his 

$500,000.  His name comes off of the building or 

excuse me -- off of the corporation.  It's gone.  

He's excised from or exercised from the -- the 

school and anything to do with it, and his name was 

never on the building that point.  And he sued over 

control for the board, but he never raised the issue 

of rescission of his gift.  Never said, I want my 

money back because you breached a contract with me, 

and there's nothing in the record that suggests that 

he was ever intending to do that.  

Ms. Pacheco's hearsay testimony to that 

effect is well, they were going to sue.  What were 

they going to sue for?  She couldn't tell you what 
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exactly they were going to sue for.  She couldn't 

tell you.  She couldn't tell the jury.  She couldn't 

tell anybody.  And there's no evidence of what, if 

anything, he ever intended to do about that.  What 

we do know -- the facts we do have is what he did, 

and we know he was aggravated enough to file a 

lawsuit, but he didn't include that.  

So how in the world could you say -- can -- 

can the estate say, we have met our burden by a 

clear and convincing evidence that he was only going 

to -- had only made that gift as long as his name 

remained on the corporation or the school or 

something.  Because when it was put to the test, he 

didn't do it.  That is evidence, direct 

unchallengeable evidence of a contrary intent, of an 

intent that he still wanted to give to the school.  

And I would just raise this one other 

point, Your Honor, that there was testimony from 

multiple witnesses, including his own son and 

Ms. Pacheco, about his love for the school and how 

much he wanted to take care of that school, how much 

he was for supporting education of Jewish kids.  So 

there was evidence in the record of an ulterior 

motive for his gifts, and no evidence when given the 

opportunity for three-plus years to sue to get his 
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$500,000 back.  The evidence shows he chose not to 

do that when he was still -- was motivated enough to 

do something by suing for other reasons.  

So the burden of proof is on them.  They 

have utterly failed in it.  They have failed the 

procedural test here as well under Rule 50 and Rule 

52(c).  So, Your Honor, and I would actually suggest 

the Court based upon the actual testimony we have 

from Mr. Schwartz, his son, and Ms. Pacheco that 

would be a travesty to now after 30 years, 30 

years -- now we're 2019, 30 years to take a half a 

million dollars or a million -- over a million 

dollars is what they really want, but even a half a 

million dollars.  It would be a travesty of justice 

to then come back 30 years later and say, oh, we're 

going to take $500,000 away from this school that is 

serving the purpose that Milton Schwartz said he was 

interested in, which was promoting Jewish education.  

And I know it sometimes get overlooked 

because we -- the school has an unbelievable 

benefactor as we all know.  So I think part of their 

strategy is well, look, they got this super rich 

benefactor and what is that to him?  He'll just make 

it up.  That is -- if -- if that's the -- so 

underlying or undercurrent of -- of argument here, 

005967

005967

00
59

67
005967



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

07-P061300 - 1/10/2019

27

that is disturbing to think that it's not a big deal 

for the school because they also have right now a 

very wealthy benefactor, and we would implore this 

Court not to listen to this argument and take away 

any amount of the money including the half a million 

dollars that Mr. Schwartz gave without them 

satisfying their obligations under the law. 

THE COURT:  With respect to the gift, the 

inter vivos gifts and how the jury's findings effect 

that, you know, I understand that part now, but the 

interpretation of the will, I think we always talked 

about the fact that the jury had to make its 

finding, but the Court still had to interpret the 

will.  I thought we always understood there was 

going to be post-trial motion on the will. 

MR. JONES:  We -- we had some disagreements 

about that, Your Honor, legal arguments, but you 

made a ruling and that's what we have to live with 

and both sides have to live with your ruling, and so 

that is my understanding of what your ruling was, 

and so with respect to that argument and so alluding 

to the $500,000 bequest -- 

THE COURT:  Right. 

MR. JONES:  -- I'm not going to belabor it.  

You've heard these arguments more times than you 
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probably care to hear.  The argument is pretty 

simple and straightforward, so I'll just make it 

quickly.  

Here's the -- the -- the point and you are 

the person who makes the call.  As to the $500,000, 

at the time that Mr. Schwartz died, Milton Schwartz 

died, the school was named -- the building was named 

the Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy.  There's no 

dispute about that.  At the time he died, the 

corporation was named the Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew 

Academy.  There's no dispute about that.  It changed 

about three, I think, or four months later.  

Actually about four months later as I recall.  So 

I -- I understand their argument.  Well, it did 

change, and so when they -- you changed it even 

though he had died at the time back, you know, in 

August or whenever it was, it still was changed 

later, and you can't do this sort of bait-and-switch 

on us assuming that's what the intent was, which we 

just don't believe that, but that's sort of their 

argument.  

So here's the other side or the other point 

of that argument, one of the things that Mr. Freer 

said is that the gift has lapsed.  That's actually 

contrary to Jonathan Schwartz's sworn testimony.  
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Cause I cross-examined him on this point.  The gift 

has not lapsed.  He said -- cause remember the IRS, 

they got the deduction, they cannot have lapsed, and 

so I said, so what are you going to do.  You going 

to give it -- you're going to create a school called 

the Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy and give it to 

them?  Well, no, but we'll figure out something to 

do with it.  

So here is the question, this is really 

what it gets right down to it, the estate got a tax 

write-off for the $500,000.  The trustee of the 

estate -- the executor of the estate has admitted in 

open court before you that they have an -- an 

absolute obligation to give that money to somebody 

because they got the tax write-off and it's all -- 

all a done deal, and that they're going to give it 

to someone, somewhere.  So then question becomes -- 

and by the way, I could talk to you about the law, 

about interpretation of charitable gifts and the 

liberal nature of that and the intent and -- and I 

would just point out, Mr. Schwartz himself testified 

in video how much he loved Jewish education for 

Jewish kids.  His son testified that was a driving 

force in his life.  So this doesn't go to the school 

inevitably.  This goes to scholarships for Jewish 
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kids at that school.  

So the question then this Court has to 

grapple with is -- so should the Court take away 

that gift that's going to go -- theoretically, it's 

going to go somewhere.  There's no school that's 

named the Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy, and 

Mr. Schwartz, Jonathan Schwartz, could not tell this 

Court where he was going to give it, but he promised 

the Court under oath that he's going to give it to 

somebody because he had to.  What is the most 

appropriate equitable resolution to that conundrum.  

To give it in trust to the school for strictly for 

the purpose of scholarships to Jewish kids for 

Jewish education.  In light of his clearly expressed 

intent to promote Jewish education.  

And I would submit to the Court that the 

equities, because that's what they're asking for 

here, the equities unquestionably favor putting it 

in trust for education of Jewish kids as 

Mr. Schwartz intended especially based upon all of 

the ambiguities that have arisen here that were a 

result of Mr. Schwartz and -- and how he wrote out 

the will.  We all know he thought he was a lawyer -- 

he actually thought he was smarter than lawyers, and 

he may have been, but he has to live -- and I don't 
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say this disrespectfully -- and died by the terms 

that he chose to put in his will.  

So you get to make that call, Your Honor, 

but I think that that's the most appropriate 

equitable thing to do, doesn't go to the school, not 

going to go to operations, it's going to go to some 

kids somewhere, theoretically or actually -- 

actually for Jewish -- to promote Jewish education.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.  

MR. JONES:  Thank you, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  Briefly. 

MR. FREER:  Briefly, Your Honor.  With 

respect to the argument that there's some type of 

procedural flaw, this is all the -- what we're 

dealing with right now is the equitable proceedings.  

This isn't any kind of post-trial motion based on 

what the jury findings were.  That's the other 

motion that we're going to hear in a moment.  This 

is all the Court's equitable considerations the 

Court has to make, and so there aren't any 52, 50, 

49 proceedings here.  This -- this is the 

proceeding.  Your Honor heard -- heard the -- heard 

the evidence and now you're making your decisions.  

With respect to their argument that he 

didn't raise the issue of the naming right in the 
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litigation that occurred in '92, '93, the issue was 

they were trying to determine who was going to 

control the board.  If he won that case and 

controlled the board, he could buy -- he could 

rectify the problem that he had.  And if Your Honor 

would recall, that litigation ended up terminating 

shortly thereafter and which then followed with the 

'96 letter.  And now the '96 letter, if you recall, 

Roberta Sabbath testified that her use of the 

language in that letter of -- having a testament and 

being -- and always being something to remember, it 

essentially equated with the words perpetuity and 

the idea that it would be in perpetuity.  And you 

saw after that letter that the school did go back, 

and amend the bylaws to, again, be in perpetuity.  

So the fact that that occurred, the lawsuit 

occurred, and had we had the resolution is of no 

import with respect to that.  

With respect to the lifetime gifts, if Your 

Honor recalls, Ms. Pacheco did find the 

documentation.  It's not a spoliation issue.  It's 

just that the Court said that it could not be 

admitted.  

However, there are other evidences of the 

gifts.  If you look at Trial Exhibit 112 and 113, 
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those show direct evidence of the gift of $500,000.  

And then you also have admissions by the school that 

they received the money from Milton Schwartz.  If 

you look at Trial Exhibit 536A, it's a gala brochure 

recognizing a gift of $50,000 -- at least $50,000 by 

Milton Schwartz.  You also look at Trial 

Exhibit 149, the school acknowledges his generous 

support.  So the school has all these records of 

charitable donations.  No point during this 

litigation even though that table was included at 

the very beginning of the petition filed in 2013, at 

no point has the school ever came back and 

challenged the numbers set forth.  They have the 

records.  They've never said that there is any 

differing amount from what was said with Ms. -- by 

Ms. Pacheco.  

Now -- 

THE COURT:  Anything else?

MR. FREER:  Yes.  When we're talking about 

fairness.  What's more disturbing than the 

assumption that we're just after money because 

there's a deep pocket is you remember everybody 

involved in this transaction thought there was a 

deal.  It wasn't until after he died that they did 

the bait-and-switch, they changed the name, and 
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that's were the equities lie, and this Court needs 

to rectify that equitable prong.  And it can do so 

by holding that that gift lapsed or that the 

unilateral mistake occurred with respect to the will 

and by refunding the gifts.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Okay.  I'm going to 

grant this motion in part and deny it in part.  We 

have always discussed that eventually we were going 

to have evaluate the will.  I do think that the 

jury's findings on the will -- because the jury's 

findings were very specific to the will, indicate 

that Milton only intended the money to go to a 

school named after him in perpetuity.  This one 

wasn't.  The jury found that.  And there was never 

an enforceable agreement.  He never had an 

enforceable agreement.  He believed he did.  He 

didn't.  

So his gift to the school -- and you have 

to read the second -- the last sentence of this 

paragraph -- of this -- paragraph 2.3 of his will, 

"In the event that no mortgage exists at the time of 

my death" -- and none did -- "the entire $500,000 

amount shall go to the Hebrew Academy for the 

purpose of funding scholarships to educate Jewish 

children only."  There is no Hebrew Academy.  
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Therefore, the gift -- well, at the time of his 

death, technically, the Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew 

Academy did exist; however, it no longer exists and 

that's the problem.  He never had an enforceable 

agreement that it would be that way in perpetuity.  

That's the only reason he made this gift.  So 

whether or not there was an entity at the time of 

his death that still had his name and later changed, 

isn't the point.  The point is he wouldn't have made 

this gift if he didn't -- if he knew that his 

name -- if he didn't have an enforceable naming 

rights agreement, and he didn't.  He just clearly 

didn't.  

However, I have I agree with Mr. Jones in 

part and that is that very clearly this gift is 

intended to fund scholarships to educate Jewish 

children, and I think Mr. Schwartz acknowledged that 

on the stand.  It was claimed that way on the IRS 

return.  It has to go to that.  So it begs the 

question, where does it go?  It has to go somewhere 

to fund scholarships for Jewish children. 

MR. FREER:  And as we represented in court 

when Mr. Schwartz testified, they're -- the family's 

all in agreement that this was going to go towards 

such scholarships and also with the caveat that 
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those honor Milton Schwartz's legacy.  That's what 

the whole purpose of probate administration is.  

We'll be back in once they identify who the 

benefactor is --

THE COURT:  Okay.  But -- 

MR. FREER:  -- or who the beneficiary is. 

THE COURT:  I do not see that the same 

agreement goes to these inter vivos gifts at all.  

The jury -- I was not asked to consider whether that 

same naming rights belief applied to his inter vivos 

gifts, and I have to agree with Mr. Jones, I think 

that the evidence is to the contrary.  He had a 

chance to sue to get the money back, the original 

founding $500,000, and he didn't do it.  He never 

did it.  He never sought to get that money back.  

Whether he came back in some sort of alliance that 

the school was going to have his name on it, he 

never again stated, I'm doing this because it's 

named after me in perpetuity.  I don't recall the 

evidence that way.  He continued to give money.  

Yes, his name was on the school.  He may have 

believe he had an enforceable naming rights 

agreement, but he never conditioned any gift.  He 

never conditioned a gift on that incorrect belief 

ever.  So I just -- I don't see that the inter vivos 
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gifts can be interpreted the same way at all.  

The will is very specific and the will 

states the intent of, and it was -- he was wrong 

about his belief, but the will says it's intended to 

be because it's named after me.  None of these other 

gifts ever said, I'm giving this because I believe 

this is named after me.  It just isn't in the 

record.  

So for that reason, I'm going to grant the 

motion in part and deny it in part.  I'm granting 

the equitable claim as to the $500,000.  The -- it 

does not go to the school.  I -- the -- for -- I 

think the point Mr. Jones was making, it doesn't go 

to the school as a gift to the school.  It is 

clearly intended to be a scholarship fund, and it 

has to be a scholarship fund in the amount of 

$500,000.  Where they set that up, you know, I don't 

know that that can be interpreted as only being at 

this particular school.  It's a school.  It's 

intended to benefit the education of Jewish 

children, and that's all he said.  

So moving on then to the other issue, which 

is the post-trial motion on the -- basically the -- 

MR. JONES:  Well, Your Honor, you said you 

might want to talk about retax and cost before we 
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get to the final motion.  Whatever -- I don't care.  

I just thought that that's what you said the order 

you wanted to do it.  Motion to retax before we did 

the final motion on there.  It doesn't matter to me. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Well, we can do retax if 

you want.  I -- I -- but I think that if we talk 

about the motion to retax, then I guess that just 

kind of -- the first question is:  Who won?  

MR. JONES:  And if you want to take the 

other motion first, I just thought -- what I thought 

I heard you say but -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah.  Well, that's the order 

they were filed in.  So the issue on the motion to 

retax cost, and I will say because having dealt with 

Mr. Jones's firm a number of times, we've had this 

discussion go around and around.  If anybody 

documents their files in a way that Cadle versus 

Woods Erickson could never dispute, it's Mr. Jones's 

firm.  They exhaustively document their costs.  So, 

I mean, there may be some issues that we can 

address, but my first question is:  Who won?  I -- 

MR. FREER:  And I think that needs to be 

briefed, Your Honor, now that you've made the ruling 

with respect to -- 

THE COURT:  I mean, they timely filed it, 
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that's -- after the jury's verdict, they had to do 

it, they timely filed. 

MR. FREER:  They timely filed, and we had 

to timely file our motion to retax after they did 

that, and the whole point of our motion was the 

Court should delay its ruling on this until 

determining the equitable relief, and then we can 

come back, especially after we file our memorandum 

of costs with respect to the equitable relief 

section, and the Court can determine who the 

prevailing party was and the amounts. 

THE COURT:  Because each side won on 

something.  

MR. FREER:  Yes.  

THE COURT:  So that was my -- when I read 

this, I was -- I was just like -- seems premature. 

MR. FREER:  Right.  And I admit -- they 

were preserving their rights.  We were preserving 

our rights --

THE COURT:  Exactly. 

MR. FREER:  -- but I don't think the Court 

needs to hear that today. 

THE COURT:  So, Mr. Jones, on the motion to 

retax costs -- 

MR. JONES:  Well, I guess I would only say 
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assuming it was premature -- it's -- I don't think 

it is now. 

THE COURT:  Right.  I mean, your client won 

on that issue, so I guess that's my question.  This 

is maybe a Polsenberg question, who won?  

MR. JONES:  Well, Your Honor, I would 

suggest that having had that situation before --

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MR. JONES: -- where I've been in cases and 

probably Dan has as well where both sides won one 

claim or a claim or two claims or whatever. 

THE COURT:  Right.  

MR. JONES:  In other words, there's a split 

between claim and a counterclaim as we have here, 

and the case law as I understand it in those 

situations, the Court looks at who essentially won 

the majority of the case if you will.  The -- the -- 

the party that is prevailed on the most claims.  And 

it's looked at different ways but, and maybe it's 

premature, you want to get briefing on it, but I 

guess the point I would say is here most of the 

claims in this case, most of the discussion and the 

argument and the dispute in this case was whether or 

not Mr. Schwartz had a naming rights contract.  The 

equitable claim of whether or not we had the -- we 
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got the $500,000 in the scholarship money was a 

minor -- I would restate that.  I wouldn't say it 

was a minor claim.  It was not the major issue 

before the Court, and it was not the issue as we -- 

THE COURT:  Right.

MR. JONES:  -- just discussed.  It was 

tried before the jury.  The vast majority of our 

costs are related to the jury trial.  Almost no -- 

none of our costs are related to the equitable claim 

that this Court just ruled upon.  And that is my 

understanding -- and Dan may have a different 

perspective on that, but that is my understanding 

essentially of how the Court is tasked to analyze 

that question when we have this situation where you 

have two arguably prevailing parties. 

THE COURT:  Right.  That issue isn't brief.  

That's my question.  

MR. JONES:  Exactly.  

THE COURT:  I mean, it's not so much that 

I'm not prepared the rule these -- this memorandum 

of costs in the context of this jury trial.  I mean, 

I have -- I've looked through it, and as I said, 

nobody does a better job at documenting their costs 

than Mr. Jones's firm. 

MR. FREER:  But the main issue is who's the 
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prevailing party.  We'd like the opportunity to 

brief that, Your Honor, and argue -- 

THE COURT:  Because this is -- this is 

Mr. Jones's point is that with respect to the jury 

trial and the costs that were incurred in going to 

the jury trial, very clearly, you know, the trial 

support, all those kinds of things, that are all 

jury -- jury trial issues.  

The question is then what, if any, costs 

are recoverable on the equitable issues and his 

point being only those that would be attributable to 

the equitable issues and this is something that, you 

know, I think -- 

MR. FREER:  Well, obviously, this is the 

first -- 

THE COURT:  Mr. Polsenberg may have some 

thoughts about -- 

MR. FREER:  This is the first instance for 

us. 

THE COURT:  -- and so that's why I'm kind 

of indicating -- I don't know if we -- if we should 

go forward now because I do think we'd know.  

They -- 

MR. JONES:  Your Honor, I'll make this 

simple.  If that's what the Court is inclined to do, 
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we don't need to belabor it.  If the Court wants 

briefing on that, we'll -- that's fine.  

THE COURT:  Yeah, 'cause it's kind of, 

like, how much would be -- and that's what got me 

thinking is, like, who won, and if both sides win, 

what do you -- what do you get to recover?  So I 

don't know if Mr. Polsenberg wants to be heard on 

that, but I -- I do think -- 

MR. POLSENBERG:  No.  

THE COURT:  -- it probably needs to be 

briefed.  I do think it probably needs to be 

briefed.  

MR. POLSENBERG:  I agree. 

THE COURT:  That was kind of what I thought 

when I looked at it is -- 

MR. FREER:  I guess the only response I'd 

have is if you look at questions eight and nine, 

those were the direct issues that the jury 

determined, the Court prior in its order denying 

judgment said that the ultimate issue of fact to be 

heard by the jury with respect to this is what 

Milton intended at the time he executed the will.  

So that was part and parcel of the jury -- 

THE COURT:  Right.  Okay.

MR. FREER:  -- and so we can brief that, 
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Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  So I -- I do think 

that -- that's the issue is -- 

MR. JONES:  That -- that's fine, Your 

Honor.  The only point I would have is that 

Mr. Polsenberg just proved his own point by saying 

that he's the only one that argues longer than me 

when he only stood up and said no, and so I would 

just make the record -- 

THE COURT:  But the -- 

MR. POLSENBERG:  He's right. 

THE COURT:  But the point is that there is 

case law out there that says a -- and in this case 

the -- technically would be the defendant -- doesn't 

have to recover money damages in order to recover 

costs.  I mean, that's not a factor. 

MR. FREER:  Right.  But I -- 

THE COURT:  The defendant is entitled to 

recover their costs and they -- they defended having 

to name a school after Milton Schwartz.   

MR. FREER:  Right.  

THE COURT:  So and they didn't. 

MR. FREER:  We'll brief it, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  So that's not the problem.  The 

problem is, there's -- each side kind of recovers on 
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something.  

The post-trial motion?  

MR. FREER:  The post-trial motion, Your 

Honor, to save everybody time, I will just briefly 

go through this.  These are all arguments we've 

raised before trial, during trial, now we're raising 

them again after trial.  Basically we assigned, you 

know, arguments that a new trial is warranted on the 

judgment, on the breach of oral contract.  We 

outlined the prejudice that occurred, that we 

believe occurred because of that -- because we 

weren't able to emphasize the existence of an oral 

contract.  We cite all that information.  

We also request a new trial on the basis of 

the jury instruction with respect to modification of 

the contract and outline as stated in our briefs, 

and I'll just mention it here real briefly.  The 

prejudice that occurred from that is it prevented us 

in closing argument from being able to explain to 

the jury how course of conduct and modification over 

time and the fact that in light of events that 

occurred after the initial formation -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah, I'm with you up to there, 

but I'm not following this final part four of -- 

that the jury disregarded jury instructions 5, 6, 
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21, 22, 23, and 28. 

MR. FREER:  Right.  And that's our third 

claim so final part four of what -- I'm sorry. 

THE COURT:  The -- yeah, the final part of 

the brief, section four of the brief, page 11.  And 

it -- it's -- and 12.  It specifically relates to 

specific jury instructions 5, 6, 21, 22, 23, and 28. 

MR. FREER:  Right.  Those -- so in that 

whole section what we did was we were requesting 

either the Court amend the judgment on jury verdict 

or a brand new trial on the basis that the jury did 

not follow those instructions.  Our argument is that 

the evidence presented at trial was so overwhelming 

that had the jury followed those instructions, it 

would have been compelled to find that there was an 

enforceable agreement.  That is what is outlined in 

our brief -- 

THE COURT:  Oh, okay.

MR. FREE:  -- and that's what -- we go 

through each one of the elements of contract because 

obviously the jury just came back and said there was 

no contract, and so we just analyzed that, and 

that's the basis of our motion for relief there.  

We assert additional grounds for relief in 

the brief -- I'm going to rest on the briefness of 
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those.  Just make the record that I'm not abandoning 

those claims -- 

THE COURT:  Understood. 

MR. FREER:  -- but in the interest of time. 

MR. JONES:  Your Honor, I definitely would 

ask the Court if the Court needs to hear argument -- 

and the reason I say that is you've heard as 

Mr. Freer candidly admitted, and I appreciate that, 

you've heard really these arguments, most of those 

arguments before, and I would point out, by the way, 

I disagree that what Mr. Freer said about Rule 52(c) 

does apply even to the equitable claims you have to 

raise those issues during trial even if it's a bench 

trial with the Court, and that was one of our 

arguments.  And that -- here's -- Rule 50 clearly 

applies that you cannot bring up new issues on 

post -- post-trial that you did not argue during 

trial, and we point that out in -- in our brief that 

they are raising new issues here.  The issue they 

raise in the Rule 50 motion was only for a directed 

verdict against their first claim for relief, 

construction of will.  So and I -- 

THE COURT:  That wasn't for the jury. 

MR. JONES:  That's right.  That's right.  

And so, you know, I can go through this chapter and 
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verse if you want me to.  It's -- I think it's 

well briefed -- 

THE COURT:  It's really well briefed -- 

MR. JONES:  -- by both sides.

THE COURT:  -- by both sides.  As I said, 

the one that I didn't quite follow was where they 

had disregarded the jury instructions, and in 

looking at that issue on a motion, I mean, you may 

disagree with the conclusion they came to, but you 

have -- it has to be something that shows that, 

like, they just didn't follow an instruction, and I 

don't -- I mean, I don't see anything that was 

inconsistent in what the jury verdict came out with, 

I mean.  

MR. JONES:  And just as further support of 

that provision, Your Honor -- 

THE COURT:  They just -- they initially 

started out, there is no naming rights contract. 

MR. JONES:  And if -- and they said no, 

which included a no written naming rights contract.  

We know, as Mr. Freer said in opening statement, if 

we had a written contract, we wouldn't be here 

today.  That's almost a verbatim quote.  

THE COURT:  Right.  

MR. JONES:  And Mr. Jonathan Schwartz 
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testified it was an oral contract. 

THE COURT:  Because they were specifically 

asked, is there a contract, they said no.  So they 

didn't have to answer the rest of the questions.  

Where was there an oral contract in -- or was it 

founded on writing?  They didn't have to answer 

that.  They didn't have to answer whether it was a 

contract in perpetuity.  They -- what was the 

consideration?  They didn't have to answer any of 

those because they just found there was no contract. 

MR. JONES:  And if there is no -- and 

here's the point about alteration, modification 

under Nevada law, and I believe this is pretty 

consistent across the country, you can't find a 

modification or alteration of an oral contract.  It 

has to be a written contract to have a modification 

or alteration because the parties have to -- both 

parties have to agree to the express terms of the 

modification, alteration.  It makes perfect sense.  

And how do you do that when you talk about an oral 

contract?  That's why you need it in writing if 

you're going to argue modification, alteration.  So 

it doesn't even apply to the facts of this case -- 

THE COURT:  And the implied covenant of 

good faith and fair dealing if I'm not instructing 

005990

005990

00
59

90
005990



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

07-P061300 - 1/10/2019

50

on a contract, then there is no implied covenant of 

good faith and fair dealing.  The jury didn't -- the 

jury didn't find a contract. 

MR. JONES:  That's -- I would agree with 

the Court on that point. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  Anything 

else?  

MR. FREER:  Disagree on the alteration, 

modification.  We put it forth in our brief 

instances where course of conduct and alteration of 

oral contracts can occur.  

THE COURT:  As indicated, really well 

briefed by both sides, but starting from the oral 

contract, the statute has run on that, and so from 

that point on then I just -- the rest of this 

sequentially falls into place, and so I'm going to 

deny the motion for relief from judgment on the 

verdict.  I think the jury followed the instructions 

very well and was well presented by both sides.  So 

denying that motion.  

MR. JONES:  And the only other thing that I 

guess if they want further briefing on the -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah.  How do you want to do 

that?  

MR. JONES:  Prepare or -- 
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THE COURT:  Do you want a schedule for that 

and a date?  

MR. FREER:  Yeah.  

THE COURT:  Because they've got five days 

now to file a -- 

MR. FREER:  Should we just do a -- yeah, 

obviously we still need to do our memorandum of 

costs -- 

THE COURT:  Right. 

MR. FREER:  -- and so I think -- 

THE COURT:  And they have to do their 

motion to retax and whatever. 

MR. FREER:  So we work well together, why 

don't we just put a stipulation and order 

together --

THE COURT:  Okay.  Yeah.  

MR. FREER:  -- as to the briefing schedule. 

MR. JONES:  That's fine, Your Honor.  We're 

happy to do that.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Thanks.

MR. FREER:  Thanks you, Your Honor.

MR. JONES:  We'll prepare the order for 

brief one and we'll (indiscernible) before we -- 

MR. FREER:  Right.  

MR. JONES:  -- submit it. 
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MR. FREER:  And -- yeah, so we'll do the -- 

if you do granting party -- 

MR. JONES:  Partial -- we'll do the order 

granting partial -- 

MR. FREER:  -- and you'll do the other one. 

MR. JONES:  Okay.  I think we can do that.  

(Overlapping dialogue.)

MR. FREER:  Thank you, Your Honor.  

MR. JONES:  Have a good day, Your Honor. 

(Proceedings adjourned.)

-oOo-
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